# **RECEIVED**

# 05-12-2011

### **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2010AP000387-CR

In the matter of sanctions imposed in State v. Gregory Nielsen:

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, Respondent,

V.

GREGORY K. NIELSEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Review of an Opinion and Order of the District II Court of Appeals which Imposed a Monetary Sanction on the Office of the State Public Defender

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

JOSEPH N. EHMANN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1016411

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the court of appeals decision to find or declare a court rules violation and impose a monetary sanction in its opinion and order, without first providing notice of the alleged violation and an opportunity to be heard, violate the Office of the State Public Defender's right to due process?

Not answered below.

2. Are the provisions of Wis. Stat. (Rule) §§ 809.19(2)(a) & (b) insufficiently definite to provide fair notice of the conduct required and therefore unconstitutionally vague for purposes of imposing monetary sanctions.

Not answered below.

3. Is an appendix certification "false" and does it violate SCR 20:3.3 candor to a tribunal, when the court's subjective view of what should have been included differs from that of counsel and is the Office of Lawyer Regulation the proper entity to decide lawyer conduct issues?

Not answered below.

4. Did the appendix and certification filed by Mr. Nielsen's appellate attorney violate the requirements of Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.19?

The court of appeals ruled that they did and imposed a \$150 sanction on the Office of the State Public Defender.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 17, 2009, the Office of the State Public Defender appointed an Assistant State Public Defender to provide postconviction representation in *State v. Gregory K. Nielsen*, Racine County Case No. 08-CF-982. Mr. Nielsen's attorney filed a postconviction motion alleging that the circuit court erred when it failed to explain why it rejected the sentence recommended in the presentence investigation (PSI) report, failed to explain the rationale for the sentence it did impose, and imposed a sentence that was excessive. The circuit court denied the motion

Mr. Nielsen appealed from the judgment of conviction and from the order denying his postconviction motion. On appeal Mr. Nielsen raised a single issue alleging that the circuit court failed to fulfill the mandate articulated in *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, to explain the rationale for the particular sentence the court imposed.

The appellant's court of appeals brief, with citation to the record, set forth in the "statement of facts" the points from the arguments and the PSI the court mentioned before imposing sentence (Appellant's COA brief, pp. 2-3; App. 109-110). The statement of facts then, with record cites, set forth direct quotes of the particular points the court made (*Id.*, pp. 3-4; App. 110-111). The argument portion of the brief

quotes or paraphrases, with citation to the record, what Mr. Nielsen's attorney believed to be the material points made by the sentencing court. (*Id.*, pp. 7-10; App. 112-117). In the appendix to the brief Mr. Nielsen's attorney provided, among other things, photocopies of the three transcript pages in which the court announced what it was "consider[ing]" in pronouncing sentence. (*Id.*, Appendix 103-05; App. 123-125). The brief contained the appendix certification required by Wis. Stat. Rule 809.19(2)(b). (*Id.*, App. 118).

On December 22, 2010, the court of appeals, District II, issued an "opinion and order" summarily affirming the judgment. The opinion, in relevant part, states:

To begin with, the sentencing court examined the circumstances of the crime and noted that Nielsen was twenty years old when the accident occurred and yet he had a .13 blood alcohol concentration. Nielsen's criminal record was detailed by the court. The court observed that Nielsen had not been honest with police about the fact that he had been drinking on the night of the crime, that he had a history of untruthfulness while on probation, and that in the past he had minimized his alcohol use and his need for treatment.

**State v. Gregory K. Nielsen**, 2010AP387—CR (Opinion issued December 22, 2010, at pp. 2-3) (App. 102-103).

At the end of this paragraph, the court inserted a footnote which reads:

Notably, the appellant's appendix includes only a select portion of the sentencing court's pronouncement and excludes that portion where the court discussed these aspects of Nielsen's character. The appellant's brief contains the required certification by staff counsel from the Office of the State Public Defender that the appendix contains the "portions of the record essential to

an understanding of the issues raised, including oral or written rulings or decisions showing the circuit court's reasoning regarding those issues." See Wis. Stat. Rule 809.19(2)(a). By omission of the entirety of the sentencing court's remarks, the certification is false. The false certification and omission of essential record documents in the appendix places an unwarranted burden on the court and is grounds for imposition of a penalty. State v. Bons, 2007 WI App 124 301 Wis. 2d 227, 731 N.W.2d 376; see also Rule 809.83(2). Accordingly, we sanction the Office of the State Public Defender and direct the payment of \$150 to the clerk of this court within thirty days of the release of this opinion.

### **State v. Gregory K. Nielsen**, *Id.* at p. 3, n. 2 (App. 103).

#### The opinion concludes:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that for a violation of Wis. Stat. Rule 809.19(2)(a), the Office of the State Public Defender shall pay a \$150 penalty within thirty days of the date of this decision. Rule 809.83(2).

#### *Id.* at p. 4 (App. 104).

The Office of the State Public Defender filed a petition for review or, in the alternative, petition for supervisory writ challenging the sanctions aspect of the opinion and order. This court granted the petition for review and dismissed the petition for supervisory writ as moot.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Court of Appeals Practice of Imposing a Monetary Sanction Summarily in a Final Opinion and Order for What the Court Deems to be a Violation of Court Rules Governing Appendices in Appellant's Briefs, Without First Providing Notice and an Opportunity to be Heard, Violates Due Process.

The court of appeals in its final opinion and order imposed a \$150 sanction against the "Office of the State Public Defender" because the attorney appointed by the state public defender did not include copies of "the entirety" of the sentencing court's comments in the appendix to her brief. *State v. Gregory K. Nielsen*, 2010AP387-CR at n. 2. The court averred that the omission violated Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.19(2). However, because the court imposed the sanction without first providing notice of the alleged violation and an opportunity to be heard, the sanctions aspect of the opinion and order violated the public defender's right to due process, and therefore must be vacated.

The court of appeals' authority to impose a sanction for non-compliance with court rules is not in dispute. Wisconsin Stat. (Rule) § 809.83(2) provides that "Failure of a person to comply...with a requirement of these rules...is grounds for...imposition of a penalty or costs on a party or counsel, or other action as the court considers appropriate." The rule, however, does not authorize the imposition of a monetary sanction by fiat.

It is fundamental to our system of laws that the government cannot deprive a person of liberty or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wis.

Const. Art. I, § 1. The United States Supreme Court has "stated time and again that reasonable notice of a charge and an opportunity to be heard in defense before punishment is imposed are 'basic in our system of jurisprudence." *Groppi v. Leslie*, 404 U.S. 496, 502, 92 S. Ct. 582, 30 L. Ed. 2d 632 (1972) (citations omitted). The Court has "emphasized this fundamental principle where rights of less standing than personal liberty were at stake." *Id*.

This court, in *Howell v. Denomie*, 2005 WI 81, 282 Wis. 2d 130, ¶ 19, 698 N.W.2d 621, ruled that the court of appeals may on its own motion raise an issue regarding violation of court rules, "but it must give notice that it is considering the issue and grant an opportunity for the parties and counsel to be heard before it makes a determination." The fundamental right to be heard must be given *before* any sanction is imposed so as to permit the judge to find no error or to impose a more lenient sanction after considering any mitigating factors that might be presented. *Oliveto v. Crawford County Circuit Court*, 194 Wis. 2d 418, 533 N.W.2d 819 (1995).

The casualness with which the court of appeals here urges disregard of basic due process rights in its response to the public defender's petition, stating that it "considers the existing notice" (which is none) and "opportunity to contest costs" (after the fact by motion to reconsider or petition to this court) to be "constitutionally adequate," is troubling. *See* Court's Response at p. 2. (App. 224).

As this court long ago observed, the power of courts "is, perhaps, nearest akin to despotic power of any power existing under our form of government" and "such being its nature, due regard for the liberty of the citizen imperatively requires that its limits be carefully guarded, so that they may

not be overstepped." *State ex rel. Attorney General v. Circuit Court for Eau Claire County*, 97 Wis. 1, 8, 72 N.W. 193 (1897). The court added "The greater the power, the greater the care required in its exercise." *Id.* This is particularly so in the context of sanctions or contempt proceedings where the court perceives itself to be the aggrieved party and "becomes the accuser, judge, and jury." *Id.* at p. 12.

The court of appeals, in the context of reviewing a circuit court's decision to impose sanctions, has indicated that courts should use caution when imposing sanctions against attorneys. *Strong v. Brushafer*, 185 Wis. 2d 812, 822, 519 N.W.2d 668 (Ct. App. 1994). The *Brushafer* court acknowledged that even when an error or mistake has occurred, particularly through inadvertence, inexperience or misunderstanding, it can "almost always...be corrected without resort to sanctions." *Id*.

The court of appeals now asserts that this court should not look to contempt cases like *Oliveto v. Crawford County* or other rules violation cases like *Howell v. Denomie* because appendix violation issues are not complex and only impact "appellate lawyers." *See* Court's response, pp. 15-17. (App. 237-239). Instead, the court argues that the case should be decided under the law interpreting Wis. Stat. § 805.03 because "§ 809.83(2) is closely akin to § 805.03, Wis. Stat., which deals 'with the failure of a party to comply with statutes governing procedure in civil actions or to obey any order of a court.' *Neylan* [v. *Vorwald*], 124 Wis. 2d [85] at 93 [(1985)]." *See* Court's response, p. 13. (App. 235).

It is important to note that while the court of appeals here cites language from *Neylan*, it overlooks that in *Neylan* this court overturned the sanction orders on the basis that they

were imposed in violation of due process.<sup>1</sup> This court held that the sanctions "ordered by the trial court without actual notice before entry precluded the opportunity to be heard. Therefore, they were lacking in that fundamental requisite of due process" and were "void and ordered vacated." *Neylan v. Vorwald*, 124 Wis. 2d 85, 95, 100, 368 N.W.2d 648 (1985).

The State Public Defender believes that law governing contempt is both applicable and useful. *See*, *Lasar v. Ford Motor Co.*, 399 F.3d 1101, 1109, n. 5 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005):

The due process requirements for contempt citations and monetary sanctions are similar. *F.J. Hanshaw Enters., Inc. v. Emerald River Dev., Inc.*, 244 F.3d 1128, 1137 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) ("Although contempt and sanctions are not identical, the principles the Supreme Court articulated for cases of contempt in *Int'l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Bagwell*, 512 U.S. 821, 129 L. Ed. 2d 642, 114 S. Ct. 2552 (1994), guide our determination of what procedural protections are necessary in imposing sanctions under a court's inherent powers.").

However, the public defender also agrees with the court of appeals that case law interpreting Wis. Stat. § 805.03 is useful.

Section 805.03 and the *Brushafer* sanctions case noted above intersect in *Anderson v. Circuit Court for Milwaukee County*, 219 Wis. 2d 1, 568 N.W.2d 653 (1998). In *Anderson*, the defense lawyer in a criminal case arrived eight minutes late for a trial scheduled to begin at 8:30 a.m. The judge called the case, noted on the record that the attorney was eight minutes late, and asked the attorney his reason.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The sanctions in *Neylan* involved the dismissal of actions for failure to prosecute and did not involve deprivation of liberty or property.

When the attorney did not provide an acceptable response, the judge imposed a monetary sanction of \$50.

This court in *Anderson* ruled that circuit courts have authority to impose a sanction for violation of court rules or court orders under § 805.03 and that the power to sanction is independent of the court's contempt power. *Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 19. The court added that while the circuit court has discretion to determine an appropriate sanction, it also has a duty to ensure that such orders "are just." *Id.* at  $\P$  20.

The *Anderson* court reiterated the points from *Brushafer* that "A court should use caution in imposing sanctions against attorneys" and that mistakes or errors "can often be corrected without sanctions." *Id.* at  $\P$  22. The court emphasized that courts must "tailor sanctions to the severity of the misconduct." *Id.* The court added:

Arbitrary action by a circuit court undermines attorney and public confidence that they will receive fair treatment by the circuit court. This court has stated as follows:

[B]oth the sheer volume and the type of cases respondent [judge] has heard can lead to the kind of exasperation and impatience he has shown. Be that as it may, the conduct of those who aspire to be judges, both off the bench but particularly on the bench, must be such as to warrant the respect of the public and the confidence of litigants that they will be treated fairly, impartially and considerately.

*In Re Complaint against Seraphim*, 97 Wis. 2d 485, 512-13 (1980).

The *Anderson* court stated that "For a reviewing court to determine whether the sanctions imposed in a particular case are just, the [sanctioning] court must make a record of the reasons for imposing sanctions in that case." Id. at ¶ 24. To make the record, the court imposing the sanction must "give the attorney an opportunity to explain his or her tardiness. The record must address the disruptive impact on the court's calendar resulting from the attorney's late arrival, the reasonableness of the attorney's explanation and the severity of the sanction to be imposed." Id.

Counsel for the circuit court on appeal argued that the circuit court has power to sanction for tardiness regardless of whether there was any actual harm "in order to create a particular courtroom atmosphere or 'culture." *Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 25. This court ruled that the sanctioning court's "interest in creating a particular courtroom 'culture' does not outweigh the need for fairness or the need for the [sanctioning] court to make a record when imposing sanctions for an attorney's tardiness." *Id*.

The *Anderson* court, citing *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 282, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971), held that a sanctioning "court's failure to delineate the factors that influenced its decision [to impose a monetary sanction] constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion." 219 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 26. The *Anderson* court noted that the sanctioning court did not state how the eight-minute delay would affect the court's ability to conduct the court's business that day or "why those eight minutes warranted a 50 dollar sanction." *Id.* The record did not show whether the eight-minute delay caused problems for any of the other participants in the trial. And, the record did not show whether the attorney was "frequently tardy." *Id.* The *Anderson* court stated that "Because the [sanctioning] court...did not articulate its

reasoning on the record, we are unable to conclude that the sanction imposed...was just. We therefore conclude that the [sanctioning] court erroneously exercised its discretion." Id. at ¶ 27.

In the present case, Mr. Nielsen's attorney on appeal raised a single issue alleging that the circuit court failed to fulfill the mandate articulated in *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, to explain the rationale for the particular sentence the court imposed. Mr. Nielsen's attorney supplied the court a complete transcript of Mr. Nielsen's brief contained the proceedings below. accurate references to the transcript and record for all factual points made. Mr. Nielsen's attorney included in the brief's appendix copies of the limited portions of the transcript she deemed necessary to an understanding of the issue she raised, and signed the required certification stating that she had done so. What she provided was consistent with what this court in **Gallion** seems to indicate was essential to an understanding of the issue.

The court of appeals accepted the brief as filed, and decided the case on the parties' briefs. Mr. Nielsen's attorney first learned of the court's charge, judgment and sentence, for what the court *sua sponte* concluded was an appendix rules violation, upon receiving a copy of the court's final opinion.

The *Nielsen* opinion states that the appendix included "only a select portion of the sentencing court's pronouncement" and excluded "that portion where the court discussed [certain] aspects of Nielsen's character." *State v. Gregory K. Nielsen*, 2010AP387—CR (Opinion issued on December 22, 2010, p. 3, n. 2) (App. 103). It continues that since the brief included the required certification indicating the appendix contained "portions of the record essential to an

understanding of the issues raised," by "omission of the entirety of the sentencing court's remarks, the certification is false." *Id*.

The *Nielsen* court then ruled that "The false certification and omission of essential record documents in the appendix places an unwarranted burden on the court and is grounds for imposition of a penalty." *Id.* The court concluded: "Accordingly, we sanction the Office of the State Public Defender and direct the payment of \$150 to the clerk of this court within thirty days." *Id.* 

The court of appeals' failure here to provide notice to the public defender that the court believed a rules violation had occurred and that it was considering imposing a sanction violated the requirements of due process. *See*, *Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 24; *Groppi v. Leslie*, 404 U.S. 496, 502, 92 S. Ct. 582, 30 L. Ed. 2d 632 (1972); *Howell v. Denomie*, 2005 WI 81, 282 Wis. 2d 130, ¶ 19. In this same vein, the court of appeals' failure to provide the public defender an opportunity to be heard before a determination on the alleged infraction was made and a monetary sanction was imposed violated the requirements of due process. *Id*. And, finally, by failing to make a record delineating the factors that influenced its decision and explaining the specific reasons why a \$150 sanction was warranted, the court of appeals here erroneously exercised its discretion. *Anderson*, *Id*. at ¶¶ 26-28.

In the response to the public defender's petition for review, counsel for the court posits that "the value of any additional procedure is unlikely to reduce the already low risk of erroneous deprivation...." Court's response, p. 14. (App. 236). The public defender has a more optimistic view of the court of appeals' willingness and ability to listen to reason and apply the law. Had the Office of the State Public

Defender been afforded its due process right to be heard, it may have been able to persuade the court that:

- (1) Section 809.83 permits "imposition of a penalty or costs on a party or counsel" and the "Office of the State Public Defender" upon whom the sanction was imposed is neither; <sup>2</sup> or,
- (2) As will be argued in more detail in Issue II of this brief, infra, there was no error because the rule in question does not require an attorney to provide what the court of appeals claimed was missing; or,
- (3) As also will be argued in more detail in Issue II, infra, because an attorney can only provide certification as to his or her own, and not the court's, subjective view of what is essential to an understanding of the issues he or she has raises, there was no violation of the certification rule or SCR 20:3.3(a) Candor to the tribunal; or,
- (4) A sanction was not warranted because in a another single-issue-*Gallion* case that involved a previously sanctioned attorney and a brief which contained less than what Mr. Nielsen's attorney provided, the District II Court of Appeals ruled it was "dangerously close"

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