# RECEIVED

06-01-2011

# CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

IN THE MATTER OF SANCTIONS IMPOSED IN STATE V. GREGORY K. NIELSEN,

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Appeal No. 2010AP387-CR

Plaintiff-Respondent,

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS,

Respondent,

VS.

GREGORY K. NIELSEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION BY
COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, ON APPEAL FROM
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RACINE COUNTY, CASE NO. 08-CF-982,
THE HONORABLE FAYE M. FLANCHER, PRESIDING

\_\_\_\_\_

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Beth Ermatinger Hanan, SBN 1026989

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THE APPENDIX RULES DO NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS.

#### A. Existing Process is Constitutionally Adequate.

This Court reviews independently whether the court of appeals has the authority to impose costs for non-compliance under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.83(2) pursuant to existing process. *See Christensen v. Sullivan*, 2009 WI 87, ¶ 42, 320 Wis. 2d 76, 768 N.W.2d 798 (reviewing circuit court's imposition of remedial sanctions for contempt of court). The challenged appendix and costs rules must be given a strong presumption of constitutionality. *Bachowski v. Salamone*, 139 Wis. 2d 397, 404, 407 N.W.2d 533 (1987). Here, the court of appeals' authority to impose costs on appendix rule violators is supported by the adequate, existing opportunities for notice of the penalty and the opportunity to challenge it.

"The fundamental or essential requirement of procedural due process is notice and hearing, that is, an opportunity to be heard . . . ." *Mid-Plains Tel., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 56 Wis. 2d 780, 785-86, 202 N.W.2d 907 (1973). Notice "must be of such a nature as to reasonably convey the required information" and must "afford a reasonable time for those interested" to act. *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950). Yet, "[d]ue process is flexible and requires only such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *State ex rel. Strykowski v. Wilkie*, 81 Wis. 2d 491, 512, 261 N.W.2d 434 (1978); *Neylan v. Vorwald*, 124 Wis. 2d 85, 90, 368 N.W.2d 648 (1985).

OSPD contends that the court of appeals "urges disregard of basic due process rights." Br. at 6. That is anything but Respondent's position. Instead, the court of appeals would point this Court to long-established precedent recognizing that context is important when determining how much process is due. While the imposition of a modest penalty or cost gives rise to some measure of due process, the protection required can be

narrowly defined. *See, e.g., Devaney v. Cont'l Am. Ins. Co.*, 989 F.2d 1154, 1161 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) (explaining that "monetary sanctions" are an area "where due process protection is narrowly defined").

Once a protectable interest is confirmed, the court balances three factors to determine what process is due. *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 30, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986). Those factors – not discussed in the OSPD brief – are:

First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail.

Id., citing Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976).

The United States Supreme Court has explained that actual notice and a hearing may not be necessary where the party has constructive notice through other means as to what the specific consequences of his conduct might be. *Neylan*, 124 Wis. 2d at 90, citing *Link v. Wabash R.R. Co.*, 370 U.S. 626, 632 (1962) (adequacy of notice and hearing turns to considerable extent, on the knowledge such party may have of the consequences of his conduct). Here the private interest in process is satisfied, because the appellate lawyer has had at least constructive notice of the appendix content and non-compliance rules. Lawyers generally are expected to be aware of the local and procedural rules of the court in front of which they practice. *See Devaney*, 989 F.2d at 1161 (noting that a reduced level of process was adequate where a lawyer "was or should have been aware that his conduct

in the litigation would likely result in sanctions against him."); *McDonald v. State*, 146 S.W.3d 883, 889 (Ark. 2004) (explaining that "[a]n attorney is expected to know the law").

Rule 809.83(2) unambiguously describes the array of potential consequences when a person does not comply with procedural rules such as § 809.19(2). The fact that § 809.83(2) permits "imposition of a penalty or costs on a party or counsel" is constructive notice that a lawyer who does not comply with the appendix rules may be assessed a monetary penalty.

In addition, § 809.83(2) is closely akin to § 805.03, Wis. Stat., which deals "with the failure of a party to comply with statutes governing procedure in civil actions or to obey any order of a court." *Neylan*, 124 Wis. 2d at 93. Deeming the latter rule to provide constructive notice of potential penalties, this Court reasoned, "[s]uch conduct requirement is precise and ascertainable by a party and therefore subject to the sanction of § 804.12(2)(a)." *Id.* Similarly, because §§ 809.19(2) and 809.83(2) are published, are clear, and are repeatedly enforced in public decisions, counsel such as Nielsen's have constitutionally sufficient notice of the implications of their conduct.

Under existing process, the value of any additional procedure is unlikely to reduce the already low risk of erroneous deprivation and must be weighed against the additional burden and cost on the courts. *See In re Commitment of Kaminski*, 2009 WI App 175, ¶¶ 15-16, 322 Wis. 2d 653, 777 N.W.2d 654 (weighing state's significant interest in preventing predatory conduct with minimal risk of erroneous deprivation under

existing procedure and negligible additional value of adding a new preliminary relevance standard). Lawyers found to be in non-compliance with a procedural rule already have the opportunity to file a motion for reconsideration. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.24(1). The rule providing for reconsideration has been in place since 2001. *See* S. Ct. Order No. 00-02. Before that time, parties and lawyers filed motions for reconsideration pursuant to the court of appeals' Internal Operating Procedures. *See* Judicial Council Note, 2001, to Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.24. Reconsideration of appellate costs is similar to the "escape hatch" of a motion for relief from judgment, a process which renders any "lack of prior notice of less consequence." *See Neylan*, 124 Wis. 2d at 96-97, citing *Link*, 370 U.S. at 632.

OSPD disagrees, citing *Strong v. Brushafer*, 185 Wis. 2d 812, 519 N.W.2d 668 (Ct. App. 1994), to urge more process before sanctioning, because the failure to supply a complete appendix could be the result of "inadvertence, inexperience, or misunderstanding." Br. at 7. Not only may those reasons be offered within the existing process, but the argument jars here, however, given other portions of OSPD's brief. At page 30 the brief describes defense counsel's approach to compiling the appendix by providing "the transcript portions she deemed essential to the issue she raised," Br. at 30, that she did not intend to provide "everything a court may need to consider to decide a particular issue," *id.*, and in any event

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A motion under § 809.24 must state with particularity the points of law or fact alleged to be in error and must include supporting argument.

strove to avoid "highlighting aspects of the record that may only be arguably relevant to refuting the issue raised. That should be opposing counsel's job." *Id.* This is not a rationale of mistake, inadvertence or misunderstanding. In this case, OSPD had 20 days after the court of appeals issued its decision to challenge the sanction through the reconsideration process. Consequently, the existing process is not constitutionally deficient. Even if this Court determines that additional process is desirable, it should weigh the additional burdens and costs to be placed on our appellate courts and the efficient movement of all appeals to conclusion.

# 1. The determination of whether an appendix certification is faulty is not analogous to a determination of frivolousness or a finding of contempt.

Some have likened the process afforded in sanctioning frivolous appeals to the process afforded in imposing costs for deficient appendices. But ascertaining whether an appeal is frivolous is far more fact intensive than determining whether an appendix is deficient. *See Mars Steel Corp. v. Cont'l Bank N.A.*, 880 F.2d 928, 933 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989) (explaining that "whether a legal position is far *enough* off the mark to be 'frivolous'" is a "fact-bound dispute" (emphasis in original)); *NLRB v. Cincinnati Bronze, Inc.*, 829 F.2d 585, 591 (6th Cir. 1987) (explaining that "[f]rivolity, like obscenity, is often difficult to define" and describing the effect of frivolous appeals on "courts struggling to remain afloat in a constantly rising sea of litigation.").

Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.25(3) requires a party to file a motion alleging that an appeal is frivolous. *See Howell v. Denomie*, 2005 WI 81, ¶ 19, 282 Wis. 2d 130, 698 N.W.2d 621. Alternatively, the court of appeals may make its own motion, but must allow the parties an opportunity to be heard – in writing - on the frivolousness question before making its determination. *Id.* In the event an appeal is determined to be frivolous, costs, fees and reasonable attorney fees may be awarded to the respondent. Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.25(3)(a).

In contrast, evaluating whether an appendix contains the necessary materials is far more straight-forward. *See* discussion in section III, *infra*, describing the factual and legal analysis this court undertook to determine whether Nielsen's counsel met the appendix content requirements. Therefore, the determination would seem to require less process. *See Milwaukee Dist. Council 48 v. Milw. Co.*, 2001 WI 65, ¶ 49, 244 Wis. 2d 333, 627 N.W.2d 866 (explaining that "[t]he type of hearing [required by due process] depends upon the nature of the case").

Similarly, analogizing the process due for a contempt sanction to that required for appendix rules violations is inapt.<sup>6</sup> There is no dispute that persons found to be in contempt, even summary contempt, have a right to dispute the finding, via "allocution." *See, e.g., State v. Kruse*, 194

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The OSPD seems to argue that the process an appellate lawyer should receive when he or she violates an appendix rule is analogous to the full weight of criminal justice protections. *See*, *e.g.*, Br. at 11 (referring to "charge, judgment, and sentence.") Colorful rhetoric is one thing, but when a petitioner fails to undertake the full due process analysis as set forth in cases like *State v. Nordness*, *supra* at 11, mere rhetoric cannot save the day.

Wis. 2d 418, 435, 533 N.W.2d 819 (1995). Persons found in contempt have included lawyers, and often persons not familiar with court rules and decorum such as litigants, witnesses and observers. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that opportunity for allocution is "essential in view of the heightened potential for abuse posed by the contempt power." *Taylor v. Hayes*, 418 U.S. 488, 500 (1974).

But the issue presented here concerns rules applicable only to appellate lawyers, not to their clients or pro se parties. The statistics, as well as existing process, belie any "heightened potential for abuse" here. The method by which the court of appeals has enforced and applied those rules is to lay out its findings of violation, determine an appropriate level of modest costs, and set a 30-day deadline for payment of those costs. Within that 30-day timeframe is the 20-day window to file a motion for reconsideration, as well as the 30-day window for filing a petition for review. While some jurisdictions provide other process, Wisconsin's current formula seems to adequately balance the appellate lawyer's interest in not paying modest costs without basis, the risk of erroneous deprivation of that property through existing procedures contrasted with the degree to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> OSPD notes that on occasion the court of appeals identifies an appendix rule violation, or conduct bordering on a violation, but does not impose a monetary sanction. Br. at 21-22. Without asking this Court to review the merits of those other circumstances, the OSPD seems to be asking this Court to require an absolutely uniform rule. But imposition of costs have always included an element of discretion, and such discretion is a necessary part of the challenged rules here. "A fair degree of definiteness is all that is required . . . a (rule) will not be voided merely by showing that the boundaries of the area of proscribed conduct are somewhat hazy." *City of Milwaukee v. K.F.*, 145 Wis. 2d 24, 32, 426 N.W.2d 329 (1988).

which the outcome would be different if additional procedures (via briefing, oral hearing, or even special fact-finding) were used, and the government's interest in fiscal and administrative efficiency not only in assessing well-founded costs but preserving its ability to bring the underlying merits to a timely close. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Attorney Gen. v. Circuit Court of Eau Claire Co.*, 97 Wis. 1, 72 N.W. 193, 194 (1897) (finding that while the court's manner of exercising its power to sanction can be prescribed, "it certainly cannot be entirely taken away, nor can its efficiency be so impaired or abridged as to leave the court without power to compel the due respect and obedience which is essential to preserve its character as a judicial tribunal.") A reasonable conclusion is that in Wisconsin, the appellate lawyer already has adequate process to challenge the imposition of costs before payment is due.

2. Imposing costs for non-compliant appendices is akin to imposing costs and fees against a party under Wis. Stat. (Rule) §§ 809.50 or 809.51.

A more appropriate analogy to appendix rule costs are the costs imposed under Wis. Stat. §§ 809.50 and 809.51. Those rules also grant the court of appeals wide discretion to impose costs against parties in petition for leave to appeal and writ proceedings, respectively. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.50(2) ("Costs and fees may be awarded against any party in a petition for leave to appeal proceeding."); Wis. Stat. § 809.51(3) ("Costs and fees may be awarded against any party in a writ proceeding."). Neither sections 809.83(2), 809.50, nor 809.51 expressly require a court to grant separate notice and a hearing before imposing sanctions, costs, or fees.

Any doubt must be resolved in favor of constitutionality. *Bachowski*, 139 Wis. 2d at 404. After applying that standard, if this Court considers that more process is due when enforcing the appendix rules, it likely also will have to consider whether more process is due for enforcement of an array of rules governing appellate procedure.<sup>8</sup>

#### 3. The OSPD's Proposed Process Alternatives are Unworkable.

OSPD argues that "the process that is due in these cases *must* include notice and an opportunity to be heard before a fact-finding body such as a circuit court" or OLR "before any decision is reached or any sanction is imposed." Br. at 16, 27 (emphasis supplied). OSPD disputes the court's authority to find an appendix certification is false, and also find that counsel has committed an ethical violation. That dual finding did not occur in this case. App.103 n.2. Even if it had, there is no undue overlap with OLR. See section II, infra.

Moreover, such additional procedures would consume more court time and funds, and provide no benefit in the majority of cases. Presently, a lawyer's rationale for why he or she opted to exclude (or forgot to include) certain items from the appendix can be adequately explained in a motion for reconsideration. This Court or the court of appeals can then

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For instance, when this Court denies a petition for review, it occasionally imposes \$50 in costs as part of its order. See Order in Stamm v. Holter, dated May 24, 2011 (No. 10-AP-615), SuppApp.253. Typically, no advance notice of the cost assessment is provided, nor is a reason for the costs set forth in the order. And even the existing process available to challenge an appendix sanction – reconsideration or petition for review – is not available to challenge this type of assessment.

evaluate whether such explanations adequately show that either the rule was not violated or the violation was excusable, and whether, in light of this information, sanctions should be maintained. No separate fact finding by another judicial body need occur, in order to make such a ruling. Notably, this Court's procedure for enforcing its rules against frivolous appeals also does not require remand for fact-finding, despite the relative complexity of such an analysis. *See Howell*, 2005 WI 81, ¶¶ 17-18.

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